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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

AT Ny
i o R, é
LATASHA DANIELS, on behalf of herself and all | Civil Case No.: _*~
others similarly situated,
Plaintiff(s), CIVIL ACTION
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
-against- AND
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
SOLOMON AND SOLOMON P.C.; and JOHN
DOES 1-25,
Defendant(s).

Plaintiff, LATASHA DANIELS, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated
(hereinafter “Plaintiff”’) by and through her undersigned attorney, alleges against the above-
named Defendant, SOLOMON AND SOLOMON P.C. ("SOLOMON P.C."), and JOHN DOES
1-25 their employees, agents, and successors (collectively "Defendants") the following:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Plaintiff brings this action for damages and declaratory relief arising from the
Defendant’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(hereinafter “FDCPA”), which prohibits debt collectors from engaging in abusive, deceptive and

unfair practices.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This is
an action for violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.
3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because jurisdiction is

not founded solely on diversity of citizenship and one of the Plaintiffs resides in this jurisdiction.
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DEFINITIONS

4. As used in reference to the FDCPA, the terms “creditor,” “consumer,” “debt,” and

“debt collector” are defined in § 803 of the FDCPA and 15 U.S.C. § 1692a.
PARTIES

5. The FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 ef seq., which prohibits certain debt collection
practices provides for the initiation of court proceedings to enjoin violations of the FDCPA and
to secure such equitable relief as may be appropriate in each case._

6. Plaintiff is a natural person and resides in Philadelphia, in Philadelphia County,
Pennsylvania and is a “Consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).

7. SOLOMON AND SOLOMON P.C. is law firm located in New York with an
office at Five Columbia Circle, Albany, New York 12203.

8. Upon information and belief, SOLOMON P.C. uses the mail, telephone, and
facsimile and regularly engages in business the principal purpose of which is to attempt to collect
debts alleged to be due another.

9. SOLOMON P.C. is a “Debt Collector” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692(a)(6).

10. John Does 1-25, are fictitious names of individuals and business alleged for the
purpose of substituting names of defendants whose identities will be disclosed in discovery and

should be made parties to this action.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

11.  Plaintiff brings this action as a state wide class action, pursuant to Rule 23 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (hereinafter “FRCP”), on behalf of herself and all Pennsylvania

consumers and their successors in interest (the “Class”), who were sent debt collection letters



Case 2:17-cv-00757-RBS Document 1 Filed 02/13/17 Page 3 of 17

and/or notices from the Defendants which are in violation of the FDCPA, as described in this

Complaint.

12.  This Action is properly maintained as a class action. The Class is initially defined

as:

All Pennsylvania consumers who were sent letters and/or notices from
SOLOMON P.C., which contained at least on one of the alleged violations of

15 U.S.C. § 1692 ef seq. as set forth herein.

The class definition may be subsequently modified or refined. The Class

period begins one year to the filing of this Action.

13.  The Class satisfies all the requirements of Rule 23 of the FRCP for maintaining a

class action:

Upon information and belief, the Class is so numerous that joinder of all
members is impracticable because there are hundreds and/or thousands of
persons who were sent debt collection letters and/or notices from the
Defendants that violate specific provisions of the FDCPA. Plaintiff is
complaining of a standard form letter, notice and/or practice. (See Exhibit A,
except that the undersigned attorney has, in accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P.
5.2 partially redacted the financial account numbers and/or personal identifiers
in an effort to protect Plaintiff’s privacy);

There are questions of law and fact which are common to the Class and which
predominate over questions affecting any individual Class member. These

common questions of law and fact include, without limitation:
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a. Whether the Defendants violated various provisions of the FDCPA
including but not limited to:

15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e; 1692¢(3); 1692¢(5); and 1692¢(10) et seq.

b. Whether Plaintiff and the Class have been injured by the
Defendant’s conduct;

c. Whether Plaintiff and the Class have sustained damages and are
entitled to restitution as a result of Defendant’s wrongdoing and if
so, what is the proper measure and appropriate statutory formula to
be applied in determining such damages and restitution; and

d. Whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to declaratory and/or
injunctive relief.

e Plaintiffs claims are typical of the Class, which all arise from the same
operative facts and are based on the same legal theories.

¢ Plaintiff has no interest adverse or antagonistic to the interest of the other
members of the Class.

o Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interest of the Class and has
retained experienced and competent attorneys to represent the Class.

e A Class Action is superior to other methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the claims herein asserted. Plaintiff anticipates that no unusual
difficulties are likely to be encountered in the management of this class action.

o A Class Action will permit large numbers of similarly situated persons to
prosecute their common claims in a single forum simultaneously and without

the duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual actions would
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engender. Class treatment will also permit the adjudication of relatively small
claims by many Class members who could not otherwise afford to seek legal
redress for the wrongs complained of herein. Absent a Class Action, class
members will continue to suffer losses of statutory protected rights as well as
monetary damages.

e Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the entire Class,
thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding
declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

14. Plaintiff is, at all times to this lawsuit, a "consumer" as that term is defined by 15
U.S.C. § 1692a(3).

15.  Sometime prior to April 4, 2016, Plaintiff allegedly incurred a financial obligation
to NJAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION ("NIAGARA MOHAWK").

16. The NIAGARA MOHAWK obligation arose out of a transaction, in which
money, property, insurance or services, which are the subject of the transaction, are primarily for
personal, family or household purposes.

17.  The NIAGARA MOHAWK obligation is a "debt" as defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(5).

18.  NIAGARA MOHAWK is a "creditor" as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(4).

19. At some time prior to April 4, 2016, the NIJAGARA MOHAWK obligation was -
placed with SOLOMON P.C. for the purpose of collection.

20. At the time the NJAGARA MOHAWK obligation was placed with SOLOMON

P.C. for the purpose of collection, the balance was past due.
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21. At the time the NIAGARA MOHAWK obligation was placed with SOLOMON
P.C. for the purpose of collection, the obligation was in default.

22. SOLOMON P.C., caused to be delivered to Plaintiff, a letter dated April 4, 2016
concerning the alleged NJAGARA MOHAWK obligation, which sought a balance of $2,850.65.
A copy of said letter is annexed hereto as Exhibit A except that the undersigned attorney has, in
accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 5.2 partially redacted the financial account numbers and/or
personal identifiers in an effort to protect Plaintiff’s privacy.

23.  The April 4, 2016 letter was sent to Plaintiff in connection with the collection of

the NJAGARA MOHA WK obligation.
24.  The April 4, 2016 letter is a “communication” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(2).
25. Upon receipt, Plaintiff read the April 4, 2016 letter.
26.  The April 4, 2016 letter states in part:
“Please be advised that your account with Solomon and Solomon
P.C. still remains unpaid, and has been reported to the national
credit bureaus. You should act no to resolve this problem!”
27.  The April 4, 2016 letter was not signed by an attorney with SOLOMON P.C.
28.  SOLOMON AND SOLOMON P.C. is not licensed to practice law in
Pennsylvania.
29.  No attorney employed by SOLOMON P.C. was licensed to practice law in
Pennsylvania as of April 4, 2016.
30.  No attorney employed by SOLOMON P.C. was licensed to practice law in

Pennsylvania within the period beginning on the day one year prior to the date this complaint is

filed to the present.
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31.  According to SOLOMON P.C.’s website, SOLOMON P.C. are only able to litigate
accounts in New York, New Jersey, Massachusetts, Connecticut and Rhode Island.

32. Defendant’s use the April 4, 2016 letter would confuse the least sophisticated
consumer as to whether Defendant was meaningfully involved in the matter as an attorney and if

so, to what degree of involvement.

33.  The overall impression that Defendant’s collection letters, the same or substantially
similar to Defendant’s April 4, 2016 letter, give to Plaintiff and other similarly situated is that of
potential legal action.

34.  Defendant’s collection letters, the same or substantially similar to Defendant’s April
4, 2016 letter, falsely imply that an attorney, acting as an attorney, is meaningfully involved in
collecting the consumer debts at issue.

35.  The FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from falsely representing or implying fhat
any individual is an attorney or that any communication is from an attorney if, in fact, no

attorney was meaningfully involved in collecting the debt. See Martsolf v. JBC Legal Group,

P.C., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6876, 2008 WL 275719 (M.D. Pa. Jan. 30, 2008); Lesher v. Law

Offices of Mitchell N. Kay, PC, 650 F.3d 993 (3% Cir. 2011); and 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(3).

36.  Defendant’s April 4, 2016 letter that Defendant sent to Plaintiff and others similarly

situated does not comply with the FDCPA. See Smith v. Michael Harrison, Esquire, 2008 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 51685 (D.N.J. July 7, 2008); Lesher v. Law Offices of Mitchell N. Kay, PC, 650

F.3d 993 (3¢ Cir. 2011).

POLICIES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF

37.  Itis SOLOMON P.C.’s policy and practice to send letters and notices to Plaintiff

and others similarly situated as shown in Exhibit A, which violate the FDCPA, by inter alia:



Case 2:17-cv-00757-RBS Document 1 Filed 02/13/17 Page 8 of 17

(a) Using false, deceptive or misleading representations or means in
connection with the collection of a debt;

(b)  Threatening to take any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not
intended to be taken;

(c) Using unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any
debt; and

(d) Making a false representation or implication that an attorney is
meaningfully involved.

38.  On information and belief, Defendant engaged in the practices described herein
by sending written communications in.the form annexed hereto as Exhibit A, to at least 30
natural persons in the State of Pennsylvania with one year of this Complaint.

COUNT I
FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT,15US.C. §
1692 et seq. VIOLATIONS

39.  Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, repeats and realleges all
prior allegations as if set forth at length herein.

40. Collection letters and/or notices, such as those sent by Defendant, are to be
evaluated by the objective standard of the hypothetical “least sophisticated consumer.”

41.  Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e of the FDCPA by using any false,
deceptive or misleading representation or means in connection with his attempts to collect debts
from Plaintiff and others similarly situated.

42. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢ of the FDCPA in connection with his
communications to Plaintiff and others similarly situated.

43.  Section 1692¢(3) of the FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from falsely

representing or implying that any communication is from an attorney.
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44,  Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(3) of the FDCPA by falsely representing
meaningful attorney involvement in his collection letters to Plaintiff and others similarly
situated.

45. Defehdant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., § 1692¢ and § 1692¢(3) of the
FDCPA by causing Plaintiff and others similarly situated to be confused as to whether Defendant
was meaningfully involved in the collection attempts as an attorney.

46.  Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., § 1692¢ and § 1692¢(3) of the
FDCPA by causing Plaintiff and others similarly situated to be confused as to whether Defendant
was acting as an attorney in his collection attempts and whether Defendant’s collection letters
implied potential legal action.

47.  Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢ and § 1692¢(3) of the FDCPA by making a
false, deceptive, or misleading representation in his collection letters to Plaintiff and others
similarly situated regarding his level of meaningful attorney involvement.

48.  Section 1692¢e(5) of the FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from threatening to take
any action that cannot legally be taken.

49.  Defendant’s April 4, 2016 letter violated 15 U.S.C. §1692e(5) by falsely implying
that a lawsuit could be instituted by Defendant.

50.  Defendant’s April 4, 2016 letter violated 15 U.S.C. §1692¢(5) by falsely implying
that the Defendant was retained to file a lawsuit against Plaintiff and others similarly situated.

51.  Section 1692¢(10) prohibits the use of any false representation or deceptive

means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.
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52.  Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §1692¢(10) by falsely representing‘that an attorney
was meaningfully involved in the collection process and by falsely implying that the Defendant
was retained to file a lawsuit against Plaintiff and others similarly situated.

53.  Congress enacted the FDCPA in part to eliminate abusive debt collection
practices by debt collectors.

54.  Plaintiff and others similarly situated have a right to free from abusive debt
collection practices by debt collectors.

55.  Plaintiff and others similarly situated have a right to receive proper notices
mandated by the FDCPA.

56.  Plaintiff and others similarly situated were sent letters which could have affected
their decision-making with regard to the debt.

57.  Plaintiff and others similarly situated have suffered harm as a direct result of the
abusive, deceptive and unfair collection practices described herein.

58.  Plaintiff has and will continue to suffer actual damages and other damages as a
direct result of the Defendant’s actions, conduct, omissions and violations of the FDCPA
described herein.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants as follows:

(a) Declaring that this action is properly maintainable as a Class Action and
certifying Plaintiff as Class representative and the attorney, Ari Marcus, Esq. as Class
Counsel;

(b)  Awarding Plaintiff and the Class statutory damages;

(c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class actual damages;

(d) Awarding pre-judgment interest;
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(e) Awarding post-judgment interest.

H Awarding Plaintiff costs of this Action, including reasonable attorneys'

fees and expenses; and

(g)  Awarding Plaintiff and the Class such other and further relief as the Court
may deem just and proper.
Dated: February 5, 2017 -~
/s/ Ari Marcus
Ari Marcus, Esq.

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff hereby requests a

Tl Ari Ma&musk"\‘*

Ari Marcus, Esq.

trial by jury on all issues so triable.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO LOCAL RULE 11.2
1, Ari Marcus, the undersigned attorney of record for Plaintiff, do hereby certify to my
own knowledge and based upon information available to me at my office, the matter in
controversy is not the subject of any other action now pending in any court or in any arbitration
or administrative proceeding.
Dated: February 5,2017 m

/s/ Ari Marcus
Ari Marcus, Esq.
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Exhibit
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.04/04/2016 SOLOMON AND SOLOMON P.C.
File Number: - i ) _

Account No.: Five Columbia Cirgle
Credilor: NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION Albany NY, 12203
Amount due as of 04/04/2016: $2,850.65

GREAT IDEA: Use Your Tax Refund to Resolve or Reduce this Debt
Dear Latasha Daniels: ’

Please be advised that your account with Solomon and Solomon P.C. still remains unpaid, and has We know your eredit is
been reported 1o the national credit burcaus. You should acl now to resolve this problem! important to you.
This is urgent, please remit payment for balance in full today so that we can make the appropriate Please contact our office

updates to your credit report. to discuss your account,

You can contact us by phone at 1-877-803-1942, e-mail at myaccount@solomonpe.com. Or make
payment on our web site at www.solomonpayments.com.

This is an attempt to collect a debt. Any information obtained will be uscd for that purpose. This Se Habla Espafiol
communication is from a debt collector. Calls are randomly monitored, and may be recorded to
ensure quality service. %

Muke paymenis
via the Internct @)
wwnv.solomonpayments.com

anall us @
myaccountggsolomonpe.com

or text us (@)
518-708-7330

=2
Office Hours Are:.
Mo = Tue 8:00am 1o 3:00pin
Wed - Fri 8:00am (o 5:00pm
Toll Free; 1-877-803-1942
Fax: (518) 456-0651

D4

Scnd Mail To:
Selomon and Solomon P.C.
Columbia Circle
P.O. Box 15019
Albany, NY 12212-5019

P.O. Box 15019
Albany, NY 12212-5018

|IllIIlI|llllllllll“ll'lllllll"llllll'"l'll'lll"

e . - qu..nsc return the below portion.with your. payment in.the enclosed.cnvelope ** 271070101419
TOIAY BY CREDBIT CARD
P.O. Box 2060 Cheug qm I:] MusterCard L] VIsA T
Southgate, M1 48195-4060 Card Number: & P R i [ IS
T i L7 Lout3 digiteon
Lxpiration Pate: Lo Lol cova i L e baek or Cond
Signalure;
” . Amount dug as X
.n“\.u.nunl ~o.: INGNGGE . o 04/04/2016: $2,850.65
—_— 04/04/2016 File Number: [N ~1MOS| Amount Encloscd: §
—— Make Payable To: NIAGARA MOHAWK POWER CORPORATION
$63/000000848/000000003
Lalagha Danicls Columbia Circle
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Section 1407.
Multidistrict Litigation ~ DirectFile. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.
P;JEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statue;

VL.~ Causeof Action. Report the civil statute directly related to-the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity, Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47°USC 5353 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VIL  Requested in Complaint., Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, FR.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual doliar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box fo indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIHI. Related Cases. This section of the IS 44.js used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attornéy Signature.” Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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'"*FIOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA — DESIGNATION FORM to be used by counsel to indicate the category of the case for the purpose of
ss‘;gnmen Jo appropriate calendar, . -
2840 Welsh Road, Philadelphia, PA 19152

Address of Plaintiff;

Fi 1 ia Circle, Alb NY 12203
Address of Defendant: ive Columbia Circle, Albany,

Philadelphia

Place of Accident, Incident or Transaction:
(Use Reverse Side For Additional Space)

Does this civil action involve a nongovernmental corporate party with any parent corporation and any publicly held corporatlon ownin A) orYnore of its stock?

(Attach two copies of the Disclosure Statement Form in accordance with Fed.R.Civ.P. 7.1(a))

Does this case involve multidistrict litigation possibilities? YesD

RELATED CASE, IF ANY:
Date Terminated:

Case Number: Judge

Civil cases are deemed related when yes is answered to any of the following questions:

1. Is this case related to property included in an earlier numbered suit pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court?
Yes®  NoEX

2. Does this case involve the same issue of fact or grow out of the same transaction as a prior suit pending or within one year previously terminated
action in this court?

Yesd NolX
3. Does this case involve the validity or infringement of a patent already in suit or any earlier numbered case pending or within one year previously
YesDd Nol¥

terminated action in this court?

4. Is this case a second or successive habeas corpus, social security appeal, or pro se civil rights case filed by the same individual?
YesOd No[X

CIVIL: (Place ¢/ in ONE CATEGORY ONLY)

A. Federal Question Cases: B. Diversity Jurisdiction Cases:

1. O Indemnity Contract, Marine Contract, and All Other Contracts 1. O Insurance Contract and Other Contracts
2. 0 FELA 2. O Airplane Personal Injury

3. O Jones Act-Personal Injury 3. O Assault, Defamation

4. O Antitrust 4. O Marine Personal Injury

5. O Patent 5. O Motor Vehicle Personal Injury

6. O Labor-Management Relations 6. O Other Personal Injury (Please specify)
7. g Civil Rights 7. O Products Liability

8. O Habeas Corpus 8. O Products Liability — Asbestos

9. Sccurities Act(s) Cases 9. 0 All other Diversity Cases

10/ Spcial Security Review Cases (Please specify)

Alll other Federal Question Cases
Please specify)

ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION

(Check Appropriate Category)
I, ARIHMARCUS , counsel of record do hereby certify:

O Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 53.2, Section 3(c)(2), that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the damages recoverable in this civil action case exceed the sum of
$150,000.00 exclusive of interest and costs;
O Relief other than monetary damages is sought.

DATE: 2/10/17 &\\_ 322283

N
Attorney-at-Law Attorney 1 IT;# B U 17
NOTE: A trial de novo will be a trial by jury only if there has been compliance with F.R.C.P. 38. E 1 3 2

1 certify that, toe my knowledge, the within case is not related to any case now pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court

except as noted above. (f)/
M —— 322283

DATE: 2/10/17

Attorney-at-Law Attorney L.D.#
CIV. 609 (5/2012)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

CASE MANAGEMENT TRACK DESIGNATION FORM

: CIVIL ACTION
Latasha Daniels Solomon & Solomon PC o t2p SF
g i 17 0757
NO.

In accordance with the Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan of th}s court, coun§el for‘
plaintiff shall complete a Case Management Track Designation Form in all civil cases at the time of
filing the complaint and serve a copy on all defendants. (See § 1:03 of the plan set forth on the reverse
side of this form.) In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said
designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk of court and serve on
the plaintiff and all other parties, a Case Management Track Designation Form specifying the track
to which that defendant believes the case should be assigned.

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING CASE MANAGEMENT TRACKS:
(a) Habeas Corpus — Cases brought under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 through § 2255. ()

(b) Social Security — Cases requesting review of a decision of the Secretary of Health
and Human Services denying plaintiff Social Security Benefits. ()

(c) Arbitration — Cases required to be designated for arbitration under Local Civil Rule 53.2. ()

(d) Asbestos — Cases involving claims for personal injury or property damage from
exposure 1o asbestos. ()

{(e) Special Management — Cases that do not fall into tracks (a) through (d) that are
commonly referred to as complex and that need special or intense management by
the court. (See reverse side of this form for a detailed explanation of special
management cases.) (

(f) Standard Management — Cases that do not fall into any one of the other tracks.

21347 A '//7&»”"""““\ Latasha Daniels
Date Attorney-at-law Attorney for
732-695-3282 732-298-6256 ari@marcuszelman.com
Ta.ephone FAX Number E-Mail Address

{Civ. 660) 10702

FES 13 2017

!
o
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This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this
post: Solomon and Solomon P.C. Facing FDCPA Class Action Suit
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